# RECEIVED

04-30-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

# DISTRICT I

# Case No. 2018AP000200 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DEDRIC EARL HAMILTON, JR., Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom Presiding, and from an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Mark A. Sanders, presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

PAMELA MOORSHEAD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1017490

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Was Mr. Hamilton entitled to a hearing on his postconviction motion in which he alleged, with the support of two experts, that his attorney provided ineffective assistance when she failed to challenge the voluntariness of his *Miranda* waiver and subsequent confession or to present evidence calling its reliability into question at trial?

Circuit Court Answer: No.

2. Should this Court grant Mr. Hamilton a new trial in the interest of justice?

Circuit Court Answer: The circuit court declined Mr. Hamilton's request for a new trial in the interest of justice.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is not warranted in this case, which involves the application of well-settled law to a unique set of facts.

While undersigned counsel anticipates the parties' briefs will sufficiently address the issue raised, the opportunity to present oral argument is welcomed if this court would find it helpful.

# STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Hamilton was charged with one count of first degree child sexual assault and one count of incest with a child. (1). The complaint alleged that Mr. Hamilton assaulted

his eight-year-old niece, D.H. Specifically, the complaint related that D.H. told police that while she was sleeping on the living room floor at her grandmother's house, Mr. Hamilton, who is her uncle, asked her to give him a hug and then put his "dick" between her legs and pulled her leggings and underwear down and started digging his fingers in her private part. He asked if it hurt and picked her up and carried her to the bedroom while kissing her face. D.H. said that she pushed Mr. Hamilton away and went back to the living room. (1).

Mr. Hamilton was arrested on June 27, 2012. He was placed in an interrogation room, and Detective Wells read his *Miranda* rights very rapidly, taking only 21 seconds.<sup>1</sup> (13:23:04). During the interrogation, the detective told Mr. Hamilton that his "penis DNA" was found on D.H.'s clothing and DNA from his hand was found on her vagina. (13:46:43; 13:47:16; 13:47:30). The detective told Mr. Hamilton that his bare penis touched D.H.'s vagina over her clothes. (13:46:46). When Mr. Hamilton tried to deny it, the detective said "that, I know is true," pointing to the alleged DNA evidence. (13:46:56). Mr. Hamilton continued to deny the allegation and questioned how the DNA results were possible. (13:47:07). The detective then told Mr. Hamilton that his finger cells were found on D.H.'s bare vagina. (13:48:16). Mr. Hamilton continued to question the DNA evidence and asked where they obtained his DNA for comparison. (13:50:14). The detective told him his DNA could have been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Portions of a DVD recording of the interrogation was introduced at trial as Exhibit 8. The DVD has been transmitted to this court. However, it does not have a record number assigned to it. These factual representations about the interrogation are from undersigned counsel's review of the recording. The notations in parentheses refer to the time noted on the video recording.

retrieved from household items. (13:50:42). Then he indicated that he would be asking for a sample from Mr. Hamilton to confirm the results. Mr. Hamilton readily agreed and gave a sample. (13:50:40; 13:51:40; 14:01:08).

Mr. Hamilton continued to insist that the allegations were not true and said that what he did do was hug D.H. and pat her on the butt (demonstrating a patting motion). (14:05:26-14:06:02). He said that when this happened, his mother and brother were "right there." (14:06:10). The detective refused to accept this, returning to the imaginary DNA evidence. (14:06:15). Mr. Hamilton said his penis was never out. (14:06:46). The detective again challenged this with the imaginary penis-specific DNA. (14:07:14).

The detective continued to use the DNA evidence to refute Mr. Hamilton's repeated denials, insisting that he had touched D.H. with his penis, that he had touched her bare vagina, and that his denials made him "look like a liar." (14:07:14-14:08:34). The detective indicated that authorities would be making decisions going forward based on his statement and whether it appeared he was being "up front" or not. (14:09:23). He explained that if the facts disputed what Mr. Hamilton said, it would make him "look bad." (14:10:05).

Mr. Hamilton explained that when he patted D.H.'s butt, it was not in a sexual way (he was "not trying to feel her."). (14:11:45). The detective woefully told Mr. Hamilton, "This is not going to look good," and it looked like he was "lying for no reason." (14:12:05). He told Mr. Hamilton, "You can only help yourself." (14:12:28). Mr. Hamilton said he should not have patted D.H.'s butt. (14:13:42). The detective said that he could not lie to Mr. Hamilton without

damaging his own credibility and even his ability to do his job. (14:14:41).

The detective said his interpretation of Mr. Hamilton's statements was that he had touched D.H.'s vagina over her clothes. (14:18:03). Finally, Mr. Hamilton reluctantly conceded that he touched D.H. on her vagina over her clothes. (14:18:15-14:18:40). He insisted it was between 12:00 and 1:00 in the afternoon when he patted her butt on the stairs. (14:19:04-14:19:44). This was the only incident of contact he ever admitted to. He said that during the incident, he "tapped her on her little stuff," which he explained was her vagina. (14:20:20). He clarified, "It was all in one motion though." (14:24:15). He said he didn't know what he was thinking and that he "went stupid." (14:24:38).

Mr. Hamilton's attorney did not challenge the admissibility of the statement or seek to introduce expert testimony on the reliability of the statement or the factors contributing to the danger of a false confession. The case proceeded to a jury trial.

### **Trial Evidence**

As relevant to this motion, the following evidence was presented. This is *not* an exhaustive summary of the trial testimony.

### The alleged victim, D.H.

Although the State had elected to introduce a video recording of a police interview with D.H. in lieu of direct examination, the State called her as a witness and took testimony from her before playing the recording. (112:35). On cross-examination, D.H. testified that on June 25, 2012 she spent the night at her grandmother's house, where she slept on the living room floor with her brother. (112:38). Also present in the house were Mr. Hamilton, another uncle whom she referred to as "Man," her grandmother, and her grandfather. (112:37-38).

D.H. was sharing a blanket with her brother. She indicated that they slept approximately four inches apart. (112:40, 63). She said Mr. Hamilton woke her up and told her to give him a hug. Defense counsel asked, "Did anything else happen?" D.H. answered "No, I went back to sleep but he told me to come back." (112:41). D.H. said Mr. Hamilton wanted her to come back to the couch. Defense counsel asked, "Did you go to the couch?" D.H. responded, "I forgot after that." (112:41). Defense counsel asked if D.H. ever left the living room that night. She answered, "No." (112:41-42). When defense counsel asked, "did anything else happen besides him asking for a hug?" D.H. answered, "I forgot after that." Defense counsel asked, "So you don't remember anything out of the ordinary happening besides him asking for a hug? D.H. answered, "Yes." (112:42).

Defense counsel reminded D.H. that she had spoken to Officer Trisha Klauser, who conducted the forensic interview. She asked D.H. if she told the officer a different story. D.H. responded, "I remember telling her something else, but I forgot what I said." She was asked if she told the officer lies, and she said, "No." Defense counsel again asked D.H. what she had told the officer, and D.H. said she told the officer that she was sleeping on the floor, Mr. Hamilton woke her up, he told her to give him a hug, she tried to go back to lie down, but he wouldn't let her. (112:43). Defense counsel asked if she and the officer talked about "private parts," and she said "Yes," but then said she forgot what they talked about. She was asked if she ever saw her uncle's private parts or if he ever saw hers, and she answered, "No." (112:32). The prosecutor reminded D.H. that she promised to tell the truth and told her that if she said she forgot something but she really remembered, that was not the truth. (112:44). He then asked her, "Do you really remember what happened that day?" Still, she said, "No." He asked her again if she remembered what happened, and she again said, "No." Then the prosecutor asked her, "Do you remember anything about your uncle touching your private part?" D.H. responded, "No, I can't." The prosecutor asked yet again, "What do you remember about your uncle touching your private part?" Then D.H. said, "He pulled my pants down. Then he had take his hand down there and start touching it." (112:44-45). Upon further questioning D.H. also testified that her uncle touched her private part with his "dick." (112:45).

D.H. then continued to testify that Mr. Hamilton had touched her private part with his hand and his private part, although she said multiple times that she had never seen his private part. (112:46). She said that when his private part touched her private part, his pants were down (112:54), and her tights and underwear were off. (112:60). However, D.H. said that his bare private part did *not* touch her bare private part. When confronted with this inconsistency, D.H.'s explanation was "The feet still had the front of it on but the back off." (112:60).

D.H. acknowledged that she had told the officer that her big sister had been molested by her other uncle. (112:56). When asked if her sister had ever talked about it at all, D.H. said "never." (112:57).

# **Forensic Interview Video**

A video recording of a forensic interview of D.H. was received into evidence and played for the jury.<sup>2</sup> D.H. initially told the police interviewer that Mr. Hamilton woke her and told her to give him a hug and then "took his you-know-what out and put it in my private part," after which he let her go and went in the bathroom and back to the bedroom. (16:52:41-16:53:57). She then added that at some point he picked her up and was kissing her face. (16:54:09).

When asked to tell it again from the beginning, D.H. related that Mr. Hamilton also pulled down her pants and "started digging in my you-know-what." (16:56:09). She also added that before going to the bathroom Mr. Hamilton took her in the bedroom, put her on the bed and lay on top of her. (16:57:48). During the recorded interview, D.H. said her leggings were on and pulled up when Mr. Hamilton put his "dick" between her legs. (16:58:30).

When asked if this had happened other times, D.H. responded "It happened with my sister and my uncle Man." (17:01:06). When D.H. was asked how she felt when Mr. Hamilton did this to her, D.H. abruptly shifted her focus to her sister's experience, saying, "Sad and mad. My sister said that she would feel like it's hurting him." (17:01:26). D.H. then added "that whole day, he was squeezing my butt." (17:02:19). Regarding the squeezing of her butt, she said "it happened that whole day, and I was so mad at him." (17:03:05).

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The DVD was introduced at trial as Exhibit 1. It was transmitted to this Court but has not been assigned a record number.

# D.H.'s mother, S.H.

D.H.'s mother testified that D.H. was "completely normal" when she picked her up from her grandmother's house. (112:71). After they were home for a time, D.H. began to tell her mother that when she was sleeping in the living room, Mr. Hamilton woke her up. (112:72). S.H. testified that D.H. told her that he pulled down her pants, and S.H. stopped D.H. because she did not want to hear the story. S.H. called her friend to come over and hear D.H.'s story. When the friend arrived, she sent D.H. upstairs with the friend to tell the story. (112:74). She also called the police. (112:73).

When confronted with a letter containing a detailed account of the incident that she wrote to the prosecutor, S.H. said that D.H. had related the story to her days later, and then she wrote the letter. (112:75-77). S.H. related that when asked if Mr. Hamilton had done anything else that made her uncomfortable, D.H. told her that earlier in the day she was on the porch, and Mr. Hamilton hugged her and "grabbed her butt." (112:91). S.H. testified that she had never discussed D.H.'s sister's sexual assault with D.H., and D.H. would only know about it "If they discussed it, them two as sisters." (112:82).

### **Officer Trisha Klauser**

Officer Klauser testified that she responded to S.H.'s call and went to D.H.'s house. (113:18). She testified that she spoke only briefly with D.H. due to the lateness of the hour. She scheduled an interview to be conducted at the child protective center. (113:18-19). During their brief encounter, D.H. told the officer that Mr. Hamilton put his "you-know-what" between her legs. She then stated that Mr. Hamilton had pulled out his "dick" and rubbed it on her pants on top of her "pussy." (113:23).

### Amber Rasmussen

This witness was a DNA analyst with the State Crime Lab. She testified that DNA testing was done, but no DNA implicating Mr. Hamilton was found. (113:33).

# **Detective Steve Wells**

detective interrogated Mr. This Hamilton. He acknowledged that he lied to Mr. Hamilton about the existence of DNA evidence. When asked "why did you keep telling him that he must have done it because his DNA was on her?" the detective responded "That was basically part of the interrogation, just trying to find out the truth as to what happened, what he'd admit to doing." (114:6). The detective acknowledged that in the end Mr. Hamilton never admitted putting his penis on D.H. or having any contact with her under clothes. He acknowledged that while Mr. Hamilton admitted patting D.H.'s butt at 12:00 to 1:00 in the afternoon, he never indicated that he did so for the purpose of sexual arousal. (113:6-7). The detective acknowledged that Mr. Hamilton never admitted to any conduct at night, but only between 12:00 and 1:00 in the afternoon. (113:7).

# Christina Hildebrand

This witness was the nurse who performed an examination of D.H. She testified that D.H. had redness, some abrasions, and a bruise in her vaginal area that she described as "more redness than we would normally see" and "not a normal finding." (114:20-26). Ms. Hildebrand noted no injury to D.H.'s hymen. (114:27). Ms. Hildebrand described her observations as "consistent with" D.H.'s report. She acknowledged that the injuries could be caused by normal playing, although she considered it "unlikely." (114:28).

D.H. reported to Ms. Hildebrand that she got a bruise on her thigh "falling into a tree" and also that she had fallen while racing friends. (114:32). Ms. Hildebrand did not learn which body parts D.H. injured racing or falling into a tree and did not rule out that she injured her vaginal area that way. (114:33). Ms. Hildebrand indicated that the redness she observed could have "endless causes." (114:34). Ms. Hildebrand was unable to say that the injuries she observed were caused by a sexual assault. (114:37).

# **Verdict and Postconviction Proceedings**

Mr. Hamilton was found guilty. A presentence report was ordered. During his interview for the PSI, Mr. Hamilton repeatedly denied that he had sexually assaulted D.H. (29:3). On January 25, 2013, Judge Ellen R. Brostrom sentenced him to sixteen years initial confinement and three years extended supervision on Count 1 and five years initial confinement and two years extended supervision consecutive on Count 2 for a total of 21 years initial confinement and five years of extended supervision. (33).

Mr. Hamilton filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, and Attorney John Wasielewski was appointed to represent him. He filed a motion for resentencing on Count 2. That motion was granted, and on February 11, 2014, Judge Brostrom resentenced Mr. Hamilton on Count 2 to sixteen years initial confinement and four years extended supervision, increasing his total sentence on both counts 21 years initial confinement and six years extended supervision. (43).

Mr. Hamilton again filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief (44). Undersigned counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Hamilton and filed a motion for leave to file a supplemental postconviction motion, which this Court granted. Mr. Hamilton filed a supplemental motion for postconviction relief. (83). The motion alleged all of the above facts and requested an evidentiary hearing. Additionally, the motion alleged that undersigned counsel had retained Dr. David Thompson to evaluate Mr. Hamilton to determine whether he had cognitive issues or mental health factors that would have made him particularly vulnerable to police interrogation tactics. His report and curriculum vitae were attached to the motion. (84). As discussed more fully below, the report discussed Mr. Hamilton's remarkably high scores on tests designed to measure suggestibility and compliance and the ways in which those characteristics, in combination with interrogation techniques used against him, contributed to the danger of a false confession. The motion stated that Dr. Thompson would testify consistent with that report at a hearing.

The postconviction motion also related that undersigned counsel had retained Attorney Keith Findley as an expert in the area of professional standards for attorneys representing the criminally accused. The motion stated that Attorney Findley would testify at a hearing that in his professional opinion, trial counsel's failure to present expert testimony regarding the phenomenon of false confessions, the interrogation tactics that contribute to them, and the personal characteristics of Mr. Hamilton that made him particularly vulnerable to these tactics was deficient performance.

The postconviction motion argued that Mr. Hamilton's *Miranda* waiver was invalid, his statement was not knowing and voluntary, and that his attorney provided ineffective assistance when she did not move to exclude the statement for those reasons. Additionally, the motion asserted that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance at trial when she failed to present expert testimony regarding Mr. Hamilton's

personal characteristics which, in combination with the tactics employed by the interrogating officer, contributed to the danger of a false confession.

The motion was assigned to Judge Mark A. Sanders, who denied it without a hearing.

# ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Hamilton was entitled to a hearing on his postconviction motion in which he alleged, with the support of two experts, that his attorney provided ineffective assistance when she failed to challenge the voluntariness of his *Miranda* waiver and subsequent confession or to present evidence calling its reliability into question at trial.

A. Introduction and standard of review.

Mr. Hamilton argued in his postconviction motion that his *Miranda* waiver and subsequent statement were involuntary. He argued that even if the statement was deemed admissible, its reliability was questionable due to the interrogation techniques that were used and his particular vulnerability to them. He supported his argument with Dr. David Thompson's report.

Trial counsel did not have Mr. Hamilton evaluated by an expert to determine whether he had any personal characteristics that would have made him particularly vulnerable to subtly coercive police interrogation tactics or increased the risk that he would make false admissions during interrogation. Trial counsel did not challenge the admissibility of his statement to police. Counsel specifically waived Mr. Hamilton's right to a pretrial hearing on the admissibility of the statement. (112:65). Nor did Mr. Hamilton's attorney seek to present any evidence at trial bearing on the interrogation techniques that were used or Mr. Hamilton's vulnerability to them in order to explain to the jury how he could have falsely admitted touching D.H.'s vagina. Therefore, Mr. Hamilton was required to raise these issues in his postconviction motion under the rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel. He did so. (83).

Mr. Hamilton was constitutionally entitled to representation that was equal to that which the ordinarily prudent lawyer, skilled and versed in the criminal law, would provide. *State v. Harper*, 57 Wis.2d 543, 557, 205 N.W.2d 1 (1973). Trial counsel's performance did not meet this standard.

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