# **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-28-2018

# COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP200-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DEDRIC EARL HAMILTON, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDER ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ELLEN R. BOSTROM AND THE HONORABLE MARK A. SANDERS, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

GREGORY M. WEBER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018533

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The circuit court properly denied Hamilton's postconviction motion without a hearing because the motion failed to allege sufficient material facts, and because the record conclusively showed that Hamilton was not entitled to relief on his challenges to trial counsel's effectiveness.

#### A. The relevant law.

1. The factual specificity required in a postconviction motion to warrant an evidentiary hearing.

To warrant an evidentiary hearing, a postconviction motion must allege material facts significant or essential to the issues at hand. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 22. The motion must allege detailed, nonconclusory facts establishing who, what when, where, how, and why an alleged error justified a new trial. Id. ¶ 23.

If Hamilton's motion failed to allege sufficient material facts, or presented conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively showed he was not entitled to relief, the circuit court could properly exercise its discretion and deny it without a hearing. Id. ¶¶ 9, 13.

The stand-alone sufficiency of the motion matters on appeal, not additional allegations offered in an appellant's brief. Id. ¶ 27.

To obtain an evidentiary hearing on an ineffective assistance claim, Hamilton had to sufficiently allege both deficient performance and actual prejudice. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313–18. He could not rely on conclusory allegations, hoping to supplement them at a subsequent hearing. *Id.* at 317–18.

The circuit court pointed out some deficiencies in Hamilton's motion. The State will point out others. This Court "may affirm a circuit court for any reason, even if not relied on by either the circuit court or raised by the lawyers." *Correa v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 2010 WI App 171, ¶ 4, 330 Wis. 2d 682, 794 N.W.2d 259.

# 2. The showings required to prove ineffective assistance.

This Court presumes constitutionally effective representation. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. Hamilton had to prove his trial counsel rendered deficient performance that resulted in actual prejudice. *Id.* at 687; *see also State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 768, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999).

Trial counsel performed deficiently if her acts or omissions fell outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance and reasonable professional judgment under prevailing professional norms. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. "The question is whether an attorney's representation amounted to incompetence 'under prevailing professional norms,' not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 105 (2011) (citation omitted).

Deficient performance resulted in actual prejudice if it created a reasonable probability that, absent the error, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Id.* at 694. Mere assertions of prejudice and speculation about possible prejudice do not satisfy this standard. *See Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d at 773–74. And when, as here, "it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, which we expect will often be so, that course should be followed." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

The overall reliability of the trial process is important to the prejudice analysis. "Absent some effect of challenged conduct on the reliability of the trial process, the Sixth Amendment guarantee is generally not implicated." Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. 364, 369 (1993) (citation omitted). This Court should also review the totality of the trial evidence when assessing prejudice. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695.

# B. Hamilton's motion failed to allege sufficient material facts to warrant a hearing.

Hamilton's jury trial occurred in 2012. Presented with compelling testimony from Debbie and the presence of corroborating medical evidence, the jury found Hamilton guilty of sexual assault and incest.

In 2017, fortified by hindsight and armed with newly-acquired opinions concerning his psychological and intellectual functioning and the phenomenon of false confessions, Hamilton tried to bring the quality of his trial counsel's performance into question.

Reviewing courts try very hard to eliminate the distorting effects of postconviction and appellate hindsight. *State v. Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 65, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93. Hamilton has not tried at all.

In his postconviction motion, Hamilton claimed trial counsel performed ineffectively (1) by not moving the circuit court to suppress his statement based on an invalid *Miranda* waiver; (2) by not moving for suppression based on improper police coercion during questioning; and (3) by failing to present expert testimony at trial that police techniques during questioning contributed to the danger of a false confession.

Using *Allen* as a template, Hamilton's pleading was deficient in at least six ways.

First, as specifically noted by the circuit court, the motion failed to allege *which* of the various *Miranda* 

rights—or which aspects of those individual rights—Hamilton claimed not to understand. (R. 97:3–4.)

The *Miranda* rights encompass a subject's right to remain silent; a warning that his statements can be used against him; informing him of his right to the presence of an attorney; and informing him of his ability to receive a lawyer if he cannot afford one. *See Dickerson v. United States*, 530 U.S. 428, 435 (2000).

The circuit court noted that Hamilton's motion contained only a self-serving statement that he simply didn't "fully understand" his rights. (R. 97:3–4.) Hamilton's declaratory and conclusory contention gave the court no direction as to what part of the warnings Hamilton claimed not to have understood, and the nature of his alleged confusion. The court also noted that "[t]here is nothing in the interrogation tape to demonstrate that the defendant was confused about them or that he did not understand them. The court finds his claim conclusory, without a factual basis, and insufficient to warrant a new trial." (*Id.* at 4.)

Conclusory declarations do not justify postconviction hearings. They justify dismissing the motion in the first instance. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568,  $\P$  9, 13.

Second, the motion failed to allege sufficient facts to demonstrate why, in 2012, trial counsel should have observed the various risk factors discovered in Hamilton by psychologist Thompson in 2017, and assigned them the same significance as Thompson. Put another way, even if she had observed them, the motion failed to allege sufficient facts to demonstrate why Strickland would have required her to act upon her discovery by consulting with a forensic psychologist and filing a suppression motion challenging the validity of the Miranda waiver.

Strickland and subsequent cases tell reviewing courts to presume effective assistance, to recognize a wide range of

professionally competent representation, and to judge counsel's performance at the time it occurred. Hamilton's motion graphically illustrated the danger of relying on hindsight when challenging trial counsel's performance.

The State is unaware of any authority for the proposition that a criminal defense attorney performs deficiently by not having her client undergo forensic psychological examination and testing whenever the State seeks to admit a custodial statement at trial. That was not the law in 2012. It is not the law today.

But Hamilton's trial counsel would had to have done that in 2012 to meet Hamilton's extreme performance expectations in 2017. His motion points to nothing that counsel should have seen in Hamilton's psychological or intellectual makeup that would have required counsel in 2012 to consult with a forensic psychologist, or present her client for examination and testing of the type favored by Thompson in 2017.

To be sure, some cases require defense consultation with experts. *See Richter*, 562 U.S. at 106. But the motion did not allege sufficient facts to demonstrate that Hamilton's case fell into that narrow category.

Third, even if the Sixth Amendment and *Strickland* required Hamilton's trial counsel to discover such risk factors in 2012, recognize their purported significance, and act upon them, the motion failed to allege sufficient facts to demonstrate *who* counsel should have consulted, and *who* was ready, willing, and able in 2012 to assist trial counsel or to serve as a trial witness.

Similarly, the motion failed to allege sufficient facts to identify with particularity *who* was ready, willing, and able to assist counsel or provide trial testimony regarding the phenomenon of false confessions.

Fourth, as to both Thompson's and Findley's prospective trial testimony, the motion failed to allege sufficient facts to demonstrate *why* the circuit court would or should have admitted such expert opinion testimony under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 907.02, or *why* the court would have erred in excluding it. Expert opinion testimony is not automatically admissible whenever a party offers it. The motion contained no citation to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 907.02, and no analysis pertaining to the admissibility of such testimony at trial in 2012.

Fifth, with regard to Findley's proffered postconviction testimony about trial counsel's performance, the motion failed to allege sufficient facts to demonstrate why that testimony would have been admissible at all at a Machner<sup>4</sup> hearing. Strickland expert testimony concerning counsel's performance is improper at *Machner* hearings. That is because the circuit court is the only expert on domestic law trial including whether counsel issues. performed deficiently. State v. McDowell, 2003 WI App 168, ¶ 62 n.20, 266 Wis. 2d 599, 669 N.W.2d 204, aff'd, 2004 WI 70, 272 Wis. 2d 488, 681 N.W.2d 500. "Expert testimony is not necessary to determine claims of ineffective assistance of counsel." Earp v. Cullen, 623 F.3d 1065, 1075 (9th Cir. 2010). This was the case at the time of Hamilton's postconviction proceedings, and it is certainly the case now. See, e.g., State v. Pico, 2018 WI 66, ¶¶ 40–47, 2018 WL 2994947 (June 15, 2018).

Sixth, the motion failed to allege sufficient facts to demonstrate *why* the detective's limited use of misrepresentation during Hamilton's questioning constituted the coercive or improper police conduct necessary

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  See State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

for a finding of involuntariness. *Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 157, 164 (1986); *State v. Moss*, 2003 WI App 239, ¶ 13, 267 Wis. 2d 772, 672 N.W.2d 125. The presence of coercive or improper police conduct is also necessary before a reviewing court may consider how a subject's personal characteristics may affect voluntariness. *State v. Markwardt*, 2007 WI App 242, ¶ 50, 306 Wis. 2d 420, 742 N.W.2d 546; *State v. Albrecht*, 184 Wis. 2d 287, 301, 516 N.W.2d 776 (Ct. App. 1994).

Police misrepresentation during questioning is not inherently coercive, but is relevant to the voluntariness determination. See Albrecht, 184 Wis. 2d at 302; State v. Triggs, 2003 WI App 91, ¶ 17, 264 Wis. 2d 861, 663 N.W.2d 396. Here, as the circuit court noted, the motion did not establish that the misrepresentation regarding the existence of incriminating DNA and skin cell evidence had any coercive effect on Hamilton at all, much less an improper one. (R. 97:4.) Hamilton stayed true to his contention that only a single, benign, nonsexual touching over clothing occurred—a swat on the butt—and no sexual assault as alleged at trial. "[W]e have repeatedly held that a lawenforcement agent may actively mislead a defendant in order to obtain a confession, so long as a rational decision remains possible." United States v. Sturdivant, 796 F.3d 690, 697 (7th Cir. 2015) (citation omitted). Hamilton plainly had the ability to rationally decide whether and what to say during the questioning. He stuck to his story.

Similarly, when a defendant retains the ability to assess a police officer's exaggeration of evidence in light of his own memory of the event, the officer's conduct will not make a resulting statement involuntary. See State v. Lemoine, 2013 WI 5, ¶ 32, 345 Wis. 2d 171, 827 N.W.2d 589. The detective's exaggeration—we have skin cells and DNA on Debbie's vaginal area—would not have caused Hamilton to make an involuntary statement because Hamilton "could"

check any exaggerations with his own memory of the event and determine whether the interviewer was lying." *Id.* He was not led to consider anything beyond his own beliefs regarding his actual guilt or innocence. *See Triggs*, 264 Wis. 2d 861, ¶ 19.

And seventh, despite Hamilton's desire to place his case squarely among those where a defendant—for whatever reason—falsely confesses to a crime that he did not actually commit, his motion failed to allege sufficient facts to demonstrate *why* his case falls into that category.

The most important aspect of Hamilton's statement was not a confession to the charged crimes. It was a flat-out denial. What he actually admitted—a nonsexual touching over clothing, without intent to become sexually gratified—constituted a protestation of innocence, not an admission of criminal liability. The circuit court perceived this when it stated that Hamilton "did not actually confess to what the victim said he did; rather, he only 'confessed' to a supposedly innocently made all-encompassing sweep of the victim's front and backside. This is not even close to what the victim said occurred." (R. 97:4.)

And the circuit court's observation exposed additional inadequacies in Hamilton's pleading. The motion failed to state *which* portion or portions of his statement Hamilton considered false, *whether* the jury actually heard them and, if it did, *why* he suffered actual prejudice as a result.

Considered individually or separately, these deficiencies justified the circuit court's dismissal of Hamilton's petition without a hearing.

C. Hamilton has not demonstrated actual prejudice because no reasonable probability exists that suppression of his statement would have resulted in acquittal.

The circuit court considered the absence of actual prejudice the "primary basis" for its decision to deny the motion without a hearing. (R. 97:5–6.) The court relied on the powerful testimony provided by Debbie—corroborated by the physical injuries observed by Christina Hildebrand—to reach this conclusion. (*Id.* at 6–7.)

The circuit court followed *Strickland's* invitation to decide ineffective assistance claims based on lack of actual prejudice when it is proper to do so. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697. This Court should do so as well.

The circuit court's finding of no prejudice was manifestly reasonable. Recall that Debbie described the vaginal groping as specified in the complaint, and the jury saw and heard her videotaped statement. (R. 112:35–65; 113:13–22, 25–27.) The assault caused Debbie pain; it "hurt bad." (R. 112:45; 62.)

Recall also that Debbie's version of events—as related to Christina Hildebrand—tallied with the State's allegations:

[Hamilton] came into the room and gave me a hug. I then went to pull away and he pulled me back and told me to be a good girl. He put his thing between my legs and then he pulled down my panties and started digging around in my private area with his fingers. He stuck either his middle finger or ring, there is a progress note missing . . . There it is. That's okay. His ring finger inside me. He had his thing out and he put that between my legs, Patient unsure if he penetrated her with his penis. Patient states: Then he pulled up my panties and was kissing my mouth and cheek. Patient states[:] Later he was hugging me and grabbing my butt and saying, Be a good girl.

(R. 114:14.)

Many child sexual assault victims suffer no physical injuries from their victimization. This case is different.

The State will not repeat its summary of Hildebrand's testimony regarding Debbie's injuries. (State's Br. 3–4.) It is enough to note that Debbie's external and internal vaginal areas were entirely and abnormally red, and tender to the touch. She suffered abrasions consistent with her claim that Hamilton had been "digging around" that area. She also suffered bruising in her vaginal area. Hildebrand testified that all of this was abnormal, consistent with the reported sexual assault, and unlikely to have been caused by Debbie's normal activities, or poor hygiene, or infection. The only pain Debbie felt upon examination was in her vaginal area.

No reasonable probability exists that, had the jury never heard Hamilton's statement claiming only a nonsexual, over-the-clothes touching of Debbie, the result of the proceeding would have been different. No substantial likelihood exists of a different result at a retrial minus the statement. And no reason at all exists for this Court to question the reliability of Hamilton's trial.

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